In The Court of Appeals For the District of Columbia

Clerk of the Court Received-07/18/2023 12:08 AM Resubmitted 07/18/2023 07:13 PM

No. 22-CF-296

BRYANT WEBSTER

APPELLANT,

v.

UNITED STATES,

APPELLEE.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia

(Honorable Ronna Beck)

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT Bryant Webster

IAN A.WILLIAMS

717 D Street, N.W. Suite 300 Washington, D.C. 20004 (202) 737-7171

(Attorney for Appellant Bryant Webster)

I. QUESTION PRESENTED

Should the Court vacate the order denying appellant's motion to withdraw his guilty plea?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeals stems from the improper denial of appellant Bryant Webster's motion to withdraw his July 25, 2019 guilty plea to two counts of first-degree sexual abuse while armed in violation of *District of Columbia Code Sections 22-3002(a)(1) & 4502* and one count of second-degree sexual abuse in violation of *District of Columbia Code Section 22-3003(2)*.

The government alleged that Mr. Webster committed the offenses on three separate occasions between August 13, 2016 and October 1, 2016 against three different individuals referenced in the record as AP, LK and PH. MPD officers arrested Mr. Webster at the scene of the alleged incident involving LK on October 1, 2016.

Mr. Webster was presented on October 3, 2016 charged with first-degree sex abuse while armed against LK and PH. *R.1.* On July 6, 2017 a grand jury indicted Mr. Webster on twenty-eight charges based on the alleged August 28, 2016 incident with AP and the alleged October 1, 2016 incident involving LK. The lead charge for each incident was first-degree sexual abuse while armed (gun). On August 7, 2018 the government obtained a superseding indictment adding three more counts based on the alleged victimization of PH some time between August 13, 2016 and August 15, 2016. *R.39.* Second-degree sex abuse was the lead superseding count as to PH.

Mr. Webster moved to vacate the guilty plea on December 6, 2019. The Honorable Ronna Beck (plea court) denied the motion on March 5, 2020. On December 16, 2021 the Hon. Marisa Demeo (reconsideration court) denied Mr. Webster's motion to reconsider the plea court's order. On April 6, 2022 the reconsideration court sentenced Mr. Webster to thirty-nine years incarceration. *R.111 (Appndx)*. This appeal follows.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 1, 2016 the Metropolitan Police Department arrested Mr. Webster at LK's home and launched an investigation that culminated with Mr. Webster's entering a hasty and pressured last-minute guilty plea under the auspices of *Super Ct. Crim. R. 11(c) (1)(C)* (Rule 11 (c)(1)(C)) where the plea court failed to conduct a proper inquiry pursuant to *Super Ct. Crim. R. 11(b)* (Rule 11(b)). Mr. Webster was subsequently charged as PH's assailant sometime between August 13, 2016 and August 15, 2016 and AP's August 28, 2016 assailant.¹

The Superior Court appointed Public Defender Service (PDS) attorney Madalyn Harvey, Esquire to represent Mr. Webster at his October 3, 2016 presentment. *R.2.* Mr. Webster fired Ms. Harvey in favor of retained private attorney David Benowitz, Esquire on November 14, 2016. *R.14.* On May 17, 2018 attorney Shawn Sukumar, Esquire entered an appearance as co-counsel.

The Alleged August 28, 2016 Armed First-Degree Burglary and First-Degree Sexual Abuse of AP

The government alleged in its May 31, 2019 "Notice of Intent to Admit Evidence of Defendant's Other Crimes" that on August 28, 2016 at approximately 6:00 A.M. AP woke up and saw a man standing in his bedroom doorway holding a gun with a laser sight. *R.47;2-4*. The man allegedly told AP that he was not going to die and to get down on the bed. The man bound AP's hands and fee. The man placed AP face down on the bed and attempted unsuccessfully to penetrate his anus with his penis. The man placed a pillowcase over AP's head at some point, tore open a condom package and performed oral sex on AP. The man then penetrated him with his penis.

The man allegedly told AP several times during the encounter to "shut up if you want to

¹ The absence of a complainant's live testimony subjected to the rigors of confrontation limits Mr. Webster's factual recitation to the government's written pleadings and allegations, none of which are conceded to be true and accurate because they ultimately rest on untested hearsay and double hearsay. The government's May 31, 2019 notice of intent to admit evidence of defendant's other crimes provides the basis for describing much of the three alleged incidents as a reference point only.

live". AP claimed he heard the assailant rifle through his drawers before leaving.

The police did not see any evidence of forced entry when they responded to AP's home located at 1233 Massachusetts Avenue, S.E., Washington, D.C. AP also told the police that two months earlier a laptop, messenger bag and voice recorder had apparently been taken from his home while he was asleep and that there had been no sign of forced entry at that time.

The Alleged October 1, 2016 Armed First-Degree Burglary and First-Degree Sexual Abuse of LK

The government alleged that on October 1, 2016 various MPD officers responded to LK's 1348 Independence Avenue, S.E., Washington, D.C. home where LK was standing at the front door waiving a gun and yelling for help. *R.47* at 4-6. LK reported that the suspect was inside his home. The officers went to LK's bedroom and saw LK's roommate wrestling with Mr. Webster who was naked below the waste. The officers detained Mr. Webster.

LK told the officers that he came home at 12:16 A.M. to a locked house, saw that none of his roommates were home, went to his bedroom and after hearing commotion outside his room, opened the door and saw a stranger. The stranger pulled a gun from his backpack, pointed the gun and asked LK for his wallet and walked LK to the front door to lock the house. The suspect ordered LK to take off his clothes. LK said that he complied and the alleged stranger duct taped his hands and feet and duct taped a shirt in his mouth. The stranger then grabbed some lotion in LK's bedroom that he applied as lubrication to LK's anus and raped him.

The stranger allegedly placed his gun on the bed and LK grabbed it after breaking loose from the restraints. LK stated that he heard one roommate call out to him and another roommate ran to the bedroom and subdued the alleged assailant while LK called the police.

The police took an injured Mr. Webster to the hospital for medical treatment. Mr. Webster told the police that he had been out drinking that night, mistakenly stumbled into the wrong house

and saw a person in the bathroom. Mr. Webster stated that he did not remember much else, including having sex with a male. Mr. Webster further denied owning a gun and stated that he did not know how he got his injuries. R.47;4-6

The Alleged Second-Degree Sexual Abuse of PH Between August 13, 2016 and August 15, 2016

The government alleged that Mr. Webster entered PH's home sometime between August 13, 2016 and August 15, 2016 without PH's permission. *R47;7*. While inside PH's home Mr. Webster observed PH apparently passed out on the sofa with exposed genitalia. Mr. Webster allegedly performed oral sex on PH and took photos of and videotaped the incident without PH's consent.

The Government's Pre-Trial Investigation and Preparation

The police located Mr. Webster's approximately two blocks from LK's residence shortly after his October 1, 2016 arrest. R.23;4. The government recovered one blank check tied to AP's bank account and two blank checks tied to LK's bank account while executing a search warrant for the vehicle. Police also recovered three sets of keys to LK's home.

The government extracted photos and other material from Mr. Webster's cell phone. These materials included photos and a video allegedly documenting Mr. Webster's alleged assault on PH that enabled the government to obtain the superseding indictment adding the charges directed to PH wherein the government joined the three incidents. *R.39*.

The government disclosed a plethora of materials at various times between Mr. Webster's October 3, 2016 presentment and the scheduled trial date. A considerable number of photographs and other materials extracted from Mr. Webster's cell phone comprised a substantial quantity of discovery provided to attorneys Benowitz and Sukumar.

The Defense Trial Preparation

Mr. Webster rejected a plea offer at the outset and remained steadfast in his desire to go to

trial until July 24, 2019 when Messrs. Benowitz and Sukumar realized they had overlooked a critical piece of evidence that the government had disclosed on June 1, 2018. *R.84; 8.* The government had also informed Messrs. Benowitz and Sukumar directly more than one year earlier that it intended to use certain video and photos of Mr. Webster with a penis in his mouth as evidence that he sexually abused PH and referenced the incident in the Notice of Intent to Admit Evidence of Other Crimes. *R47, 7; TR.18 (March 3, 2020).* Prior to July 24, 2019 Messrs Sukumar and Benowitz had not been overly concerned about the photos and video pertinent to the alleged assault on PH because they believed the government would be offering photos and video that did not clearly show Mr. Webster's face. *TR.23, 58-59 (March 3, 2020).*

The Defense Team Learns about the Graphic Photo

On July 24, 2019 Mr. Sukumar reviewed AP's grand jury testimony during his last minute trial preparations the day before opening statements and saw a reference to a photograph identified as an exhibit therein. Messrs. Sukumar and Benowitz realized that the referenced photograph was not one of the photographs they believed would be the focus of the prosecution for the alleged crimes against PH. *TR.20-21 (March 3, 2020)*. Messrs. Benowitz and Sukumar immediately called the prosecution team to inquire about the grand jury photo exhibit. *Id.* The prosecutors sent the previously disclosed photograph that depicted Mr. Webster with a penis in his mouth (graphic photo). *Id.*

Messrs. Sukumar described this photo as the nail in the coffin of a very strong government case, *TR.87 (March 3, 2020)*, so he went to the jail to notify Mr. Webster. *TR.24-25 (March 3, 2020)*. Mr. Webster acknowledged that he was the person in the photo. *TR.25 (March 3, 2020)*.

Mr. Sukumar testified that he explained to Mr. Webster that this photo was powerful evidence and that he could not formulate a defense or explanation for it so he sought and obtained

Mr. Webster's authority to ask the government to extend a plea offer. *TR.25-27 (March 3, 2020)*. Mr. Sukumar further testified that Mr. Webster told him that he would try speak to family members about accepting a plea and Mr Sukumar agreed to return to the jail that night after an anticipated conversation with the prosecutors. *TR.27-30 (March 3, 2020)*.

Mr Sukumar and Mr. Benowitz contacted the prosecution team upon Mr. Sukumar's return from the jail and negotiated a plea with an agreed upon sentencing range of thirty-two to thirty-nine years under the auspices of Rule 11(c)(1)(C), subject to Mr. Webster's approval. *TR.31-35 (March 3, 2020)*. Mr. Sukumar testified that he and Mr. Benowitz went to the jail that night and met Mr. Webster who agreed to the plea per their strong recommendation *TR.40-41,45 March 3, 2020*).

Initial Colloquy

Mr. Benowitz recounted his advice to Mr. Webster about sentencing exposure within the Rule 11(c)(1)(C) sentencing agreement parameters. *TR.4 (July 25, 2019)*.² Mr. Benowitz stated that he told Mr. Webster that each count of first-degree sex abuse while armed exposed him to life imprisonment without parole with a five-year mandatory minimum term. *TR.4 (July 25, 2019)*. Mr. Benowitz also stated that he told Mr. Webster that second-degree sex abuse carries a maximum sentence of twenty years incarceration. *Id*.

The plea court inquired from Mr. Webster if he 1) understood the plea agreement, 2) had had enough time to consider the plea, and 3) was satisfied with his attorneys. *TR.6 (July 25, 2019)* Mr. Webster answered all three questions in the affirmative. *Id*.

The Government's Proffer

The government proffered that

² The July 25, 2019 transcript was not ordered for this appeal. It appears in the Record on Appeal as Attachment 7 to "Government's Response to Defendant's Motion to Withdraw Sworn Guilty Plea" *R.84*, referenced as "*TR*. *(July 25, 2019)*."

"If the case had gone to trial, the government's evidence would have proved beyond a reasonable doubt, that on August 28, 2016 at approximately 6:00 A.M., Bryant Webster entered the home of complainant AP. at 1233 Massachusetts Avenue, Southeast in Washington, D.C. He pointed a handgun at AP, bound (his) hands and ankles and penetrated AP.'s anus with his penis against his will.

The government's evidence would have also proven, beyond a reasonable doubt, that on October 1, 2016, at approximately 12:30 a.m., Bryant Webster entered the home of LK at 1348 Independence Avenue, Southeast, Washington, D.C., pointed a handgun at LK, bound LK's hands and ankles with duct tape and penetrated LK's anus with his penis.

During the assault, LK was able to remove his hands from the duct tape, take the handgun and subdue Mr. Webster with the assistance of his roommate. LK called the police who arrived and arrested Mr. Webster.

After Mr. Webster's arrest, the Government executed a search warrant on Mr. Webster's i-Phone which was found in a white Lexus belonging to Mr. Webster. The search recovered video and photographs of LK's roommate, PH The photographs of PH show him in his residence, apparently passed out with his pants cut, exposing his genitals and with Mr. Webster's mouth on his penis.

The government's evidence would have also proven, beyond, a reasonable doubt, that Mr. Webster entered PH's home between August 13^{th} and August 15^{th} of 2016 and photographed PH with his penis in Mr. Webster's mouth without his consent." *TR.6-8 (July 25, 2019).*

The plea court asked Mr. Webster if he agreed with the proffers involving all three alleged

victims. TR.8 (July 25, 2019). Mr. Webster responded in the affirmative to each question. Id.

Post-Proffer Colloquy

Following the proffer the plea court acknowledged that she was deferring the decision to

accept the plea and stated "as long as I agree to sentence within the negotiated range, then the plea

goes forward." TR.9 (July 25, 2019). The plea court then advised Mr. Webster as follows:

"You have a right to a trial by jury. At that trial, you'd be represented by counsel, you would be presumed innocent, it would be the government's burden to prove your guilt beyond a reasonable doubt by introducing evidence here in open court.

You and your attorneys wouldn't have to do anything at the trial. You could just sit back and make the Government try to prove your guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. You would not have to testify if you didn't want to and if you chose not to, it could not be held against you because you have an absolute right to remain silent.

Your attorneys could challenge the Government's case. They could question every witness. They could object to evidence that the Government sought to introduce. They could file motions on your behalf ...

The defense could present evidence at the trial. With the help of your attorneys, you could require the people to come to court and call them to testify; you could offer other evidence; and if you wanted to testify at your trial, you could.

If you were found guilty, you would have a right to take an appeal to the D.C. Court of Appeals. If you couldn't afford a lawyer, one would be appointed for you.

All those rights are connected to going to trial, but if you plead guilty, there's not going to be a trial. All that's going to be left is for me to sentence you." *TR.10 (July 25, 2019)*

The court asked Mr. Webster if he understood "that." Mr. Webster said "yes". TR.11-12

(July 25, 2019).

The plea court did not tell Mr. Webster that he had the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses through his attorneys.

The plea court asked Mr. Webster if anyone had 1) threatened or forced him to plead guilty,

2) made promises other than the promises recited by his attorneys and 3) if he had any questions about the plea agreement or rights being given up. *TR.12 (July 25, 2019)*. Mr. Webster answered no to all three questions and yes to the plea court's subsequent single question if he still wished to plead guilty. *TR.12-13 (July 25, 2019)*.

The plea court stated that it found Mr. Webster's guilty plea to be knowing, voluntary and that there was a factual basis for it *TR.13 (July 25, 2019)*. The plea court concluded the inquiry stating that it would accept the plea contingent on its acceptance of the sentencing agreement. *Id*.

The Defense Team Learns about Mr. Webster's Desire to Withdraw the Plea

Mr. Sukumar testified that a family member of Mr. Webster told him less than one month after the plea that Mr. Webster had reservations about the plea. *TR.49 (March 3, 2020)*. This

conversation prompted Messrs. Sukumar and Benowitz to research the process for withdrawing a guilty plea. *TR.53 (March 3, 2020)*. Messrs. Benowitz and Sukumar impressed upon Mr. Webster the need to act promptly to withdraw the guilty plea sometime in mid-late September, 2019 and advised that a different attorney prepare any motion to withdraw the plea. *TR.54 (March 3, 2020)*.

Mr. Sukumar testified that Mr. Webster authorized the appointment of independent counsel in mid-October, 2019 with himself and Mr. Benowitz to otherwise remain on the case. *TR.55-56 (March 3, 2020)*. Mr. Sukumar recalled that in mid-October, 2019 he requested the plea court <u>ex</u> <u>parte</u> to appoint independent counsel to advise Mr. Webster about the plea. *TR. 56-57 (March 3, 2020)*. The plea court reappointed Ms. Harvey to serve as independent counsel on October 23, 2019.

The Motion to Withdraw The Plea

On December 6, 2019 Ms. Harvey filed a motion to withdraw the plea pursuant to *Rule* 11(d). *R*.77.³ The motion asserted that the Rule 11 colloquy was fatally defective because it elicited Mr. Webster's statements that he was not pressured to plead guilty and had sufficient time to consider his decisions when circumstances precluded him from not feeling extreme pressure to plea with sufficient time for a careful, rational decision. The motion further agued that justice demanded the plea court to allow Mr. Webster to withdraw the guilty plea because 1) Mr. Webster was asserting legal innocence, 2) the motion was filed timely and 3) the government's late disclosure of the photo precluded Mr. Webster from receiving the full benefit of competent counsel.

The government's written opposition presented overwhelming evidence that it disclosed the photo more than one year before the plea and referenced in in numerous communications with the defense team, thereby dispelling any argument that it withheld the evidence or buried it with other

³ On December 11, 2019 the plea court granted Messrs. Benowitz and Sukumar's motion to withdraw as counsel based on the newly emerged conflict.

material so as to maximize intentionally the likelihood of defense counsel overlooking it. *R.84*. The government also argued that Mr. Webster failed to assert his innocence and the evidence was so overwhelming as to preclude him from doing so. The government further argued that too much time had passed to allow Mr. Webster to withdraw the plea and that the government would be prejudiced because 1) it had expended substantial resources at the time of the plea that it would have to replicate and 2) the alleged victims would have to relive the experience following the assurance that they would not have to testify. The government concluded that Mr. Webster had the full benefit of competent counsel notwithstanding its own assertion that it disclosed the graphic photo more than one year earlier and the defense team overlooked it until the last minute.

The Plea Court Denies the Motion

The plea court denied the motion after hearing testimony from Mr. Sukumar and argument from counsel.⁴ The plea court rejected Mr. Webster's claim that the Rule 11 inquiry was flawed. *TR.6 (March 5, 2020).* The plea court found that Mr. Webster did not sufficiently assert legal innocence. *TR.6-7 (March 5, 2020).* The plea court embraced the government's claim that the evidence precluded any assertion of legal innocence. *TR.6-11 (March 5, 2020).*

The plea court found the motion untimely because it was filed more than four months after the plea. *TR.13 (March 5, 2020)*. The plea court designated October 23, 2019 as the earliest possible date that the government had notice of the likely plea withdrawal and still found that date untimely because it was more than three weeks after the plea. *TR. 14 (March 5, 2020)*.

The plea court further found that granting the motion would greatly prejudice the

⁴ During the March 3, 2020 hearing, independent counsel limited her inquiry of Mr. Sukumar to the circumstances by which he learned about the compelling photo, its disclosure to Mr. Webster, the frantic circumstances of reopening plea discussions, two visits to Mr. Webster at the jail and the various discussions with Mr Webster and his family that resulted in his and Mr. Benowitz's suggestion to the plea court that she appoint independent counsel. Mr. Webster did not testify.

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