BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 22-CF-296

Clerk of the Court
Received 12/19/2023 12:52 PM
Filed 12/19/2023 12:52 PM

BRYANT WEBSTER,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB KENECHUKWU OKOCHA

- * MARK HOBEL D.C. Bar # 1024126 Assistant United States Attorneys
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Mark.Hobel@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2016-CF1-16079

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As part of his plea agreement with the government, Webster agreed "to waive the right to appeal [his] conviction." Because Webster knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to appeal his conviction, the waiver is presumptively valid and enforceable. Webster's appeal falls within the scope of that waiver. As every federal circuit to address the issue has found, an appeal challenging the denial of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea is an appeal of a conviction—and thus barred by an appeal waiver. This Court should enforce the waiver and dismiss Webster's appeal.

Even if not waived, Webster's arguments on appeal are meritless. His claims of Rule 11 error are unpreserved and therefore subject to plain-error review. He has not shown error at all, let alone plain error. Supreme Court precedent forecloses his claim that he should have been allowed to withdraw his guilty plea "for any reason or no reason" because the trial court did not accept the Rule 11(c)(1)(C) plea agreement until sentencing. *See United States v. Hyde*, 520 U.S. 670 (1997). There was also no plain error in the plea colloquy. The trial court adequately informed Webster of the rights he was waiving by pleading guilty, and Webster agreed to a factual proffer that included a sufficient factual basis for each count of conviction.

Moreover, even if Webster could demonstrate Rule 11 error that was plain, he has not shown "a reasonable probability that, but for [any such] error, he would not have entered the plea." *United States v. Dominguez Benitez*, 542 U.S. 74, 80 (2004).

Webster also failed to establish "a fair and just reason" for withdrawing his plea. The trial court considered each of the factors identified by this Court as relevant to the discretionary determination of whether to allow Webster to withdraw his plea before sentencing and reasonably found that those factors weigh heavily against him. Webster has not asserted legal innocence. After pleading guilty on the day of trial, he vacillated and waited months before seeking to withdraw the plea, severely prejudicing the government and the victims. Finally, his counsel performed ably in the face of overwhelming evidence against Webster, negotiating a plea agreement that spared Webster from almost certain conviction on 31 counts at trial and a possible life sentence.

ARGUMENT

I. Webster Waived the Right to Appeal His Conviction.

"A knowing, intelligent and voluntary waiver of the right to appeal may generally be enforced." *United States v. Jackson*, 26 F.4th 994, 998 (D.C. Cir. 2022). "An appeal waiver is knowing, intelligent and voluntary if the defendant 'is aware of and understands the risks involved' in waiving the right to appeal." *United States v. Lee*, 888 F.3d 503, 506 (D.C. Cir. 2018) (quoting *United States v. Guillen*, 561

F.3d 527, 529 (D.C. Cir. 2009)). Appellate courts should "ordinarily" enforce "a valid waiver" and dismiss an appeal "falling within [its] scope." *Jackson*, 26 F.4th at 999.

Here, Webster agreed "to waive the right to appeal [his] conviction and sentence" in his plea agreement (R. 71 at 2-3). In "agree[ing] to waive the right to appeal the conviction and sentence," Webster "retain[ed]" only "the right to appeal on the basis of ineffective assistance of counsel, but not to raise other issues regarding the conviction or sentence" (R. 71 at 2-3). That waiver is "presumptively valid" and "enforceable," *Lee*, 888 F.3d at 506, because it was "knowing, intelligent, and voluntary." *Jackson*, 26 F.4th at 998. Webster affirmed in writing that he "fully underst[oo]d" and "discussed . . . with [his] attorney" all aspects of the agreement, including the appeal waiver, and that he was entering the agreement "voluntarily and

_

⁹ Webster "also waive[d] any right to file a post-conviction motion . . . except to the extent that [he] claims ineffective assistance of counsel and/or that the plea was not knowing and voluntary" (R.71 at 3 (emphasis added)). Significantly, the scope of Webster's appeal waiver is narrower than the scope of his waiver of the right to file post-conviction motions. The plea agreement's narrow carve-out of "the right to appeal on the basis of ineffective assistance of counsel" does not permit Webster to appeal from the denial of his presentence plea-withdrawal motion. *See United States v. Mboule*, 23 F.4th 753, 757 (7th Cir. 2022) (where "waiver's only exception was for ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claims," "Mboule's challenges to the district court's denial of his motion to withdraw his guilty plea . . . fall within the scope of the waiver").

of [his] own free will" (R. 71 at 4). Moreover, Webster signed the court's waiver form, acknowledging that he had "decided to give up" the "right to appeal [his] conviction" (R. 72). During the plea colloquy, Webster acknowledged under oath that he was giving up the "right to take an appeal to the D.C. Court of Appeals" by pleading guilty, and he also affirmed that he did not have "any questions about the plea agreement or the rights [he was] giving up" and "still want[ed] to plead guilty" (7/25/19 Tr. 11-12). This Court "view[s] such sworn statements from a defendant at his plea hearing with 'a strong presumption of verity." *Maddux v. District of Columbia*, 212 A.3d 827, 839 (D.C. 2019).

Webster's challenge to the trial court's denial of his plea-withdrawal motion "fall[s] within the scope of [his] valid appeal waiver." *Jackson*, 26 F.4th at 999. Webster waived "the right to appeal the conviction in this case" (R. 71 at 2-3). "[A] defendant challenges his conviction when he challenges the [trial] court's denial of his motion to withdraw a plea." *United States v. Alcala*, 678 F.3d 574, 578 (7th Cir. 2012). Therefore, "an appeal of the denial of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea is an attack on the conviction subject to an appeal waiver provision." *United States v. Toth*, 668 F.3d 374, 378 (6th Cir. 2012). Every federal circuit that "ha[s] addressed the issue [has] found that a plea withdrawal constitutes a challenge to the defendant's conviction" and is thus "encompassed by the language of an appellate waiver barring challenges to the conviction and sentence." *United States v. Fonseca*, 49 F.4th 1, 5

n.3 (1st Cir. 2022). *See, e.g., Alcala*, 678 F.3d at 578 ("[W]hen a defendant waives his right to appeal [his conviction] in a plea, he also waives his right to appeal a denial of his motion to withdraw that plea."). Thus, by waiving his right to appeal his conviction, Webster waived his right to appeal the denial of his plea-withdrawal motion.

At the evidentiary hearing before Judge Beck, Webster disclaimed any challenge to his guilty plea based on ineffective assistance of counsel. According to Webster, "whether or not fault l[ay] with [Sukumar and Benowitz] in not having discovered the photo" was "irrelevant" to his plea-withdrawal motion (3/3/20 Tr. 93-94). See also id. at 97-98 ("I don't want to imply that what they did was bad."). Although courts generally do not require defendants to establish ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), in order to withdraw a plea before sentencing, see Pettiford v. United States, 700 A.2d 207, 215-16 (D.C. 1997), Webster is required to demonstrate "ineffective assistance of counsel" and satisfy Strickland to circumvent his appeal waiver, under which he

_

^{See also Toth, 668 F.3d 374 (6th Cir. 2012); United States v. Rahman, 642 F.3d 1257 (9th Cir. 2011); United States v. Gray, 528 F.3d 1099 (8th Cir. 2008); United States v. White, 307 F.3d 336 (5th Cir. 2002); United States v. Elliott, 264 F.3d 1171 (10th Cir. 2001); United States v. Plotka, 2022 WL 13692137 (11th Cir. 2022) (unpublished); United States v. Deans, 711 Fed. Appx. 178 (4th Cir. 2018); United States v. Rodriguez, 659 Fed. Appx. 671 (2d Cir. 2016); United States v. Daniels, 278 Fed. Appx. 161 (3d Cir. 2008).}

"retains the right to appeal on the basis of ineffective assistance of counsel" only—
"but not to raise on appeal other issues regarding conviction or sentence" (R. 71 at 2-3). Because he has not done so, and his claim falls within the scope of the waiver, the Court should enforce the waiver and dismiss his appeal. *Jackson*, 26 F.4th at 999.

II. Even if Webster's Appeal Is Not Waived, He Has Not Shown Plain Error Under Rule 11 as Required to Withdraw His Plea.

"There are two ways in which an accused may successfully move to withdraw a guilty plea . . . , one of which is to establish a fatal defect in the Rule 11 proceeding at which the guilty plea was entered, the other to show that justice demands withdrawal in the circumstances of the individual case." *Byrd v. United States*, 801 A.2d 28, 31-32 (D.C. 2002) (cleaned up).

Webster claims for the first time on appeal that his plea hearing and pleawithdrawal proceedings did not comply with Rule 11 in several respects (Br. 14-19). Because he did not make these arguments below, they are unpreserved and—even if

29

The carve-out for "ineffective assistance of counsel" claims is unambiguous and does not cover Webster's challenge to the denial of his presentence plea-withdrawal motion. But even if there were some room for ambiguity, it must be construed against Webster. "Ambiguity in a plea agreement, as in any other type of contract, is construed against the drafter." *Jackson*, 26 F.4th at 1000. Ordinarily, of course, the government would be the drafter. In this case, however, *Webster* drafted the agreement and prepared the relevant paperwork (3/3/20 Tr. 33-34), so any ambiguity must be construed against him.

not waived—subject only to review for plain error. See United States v. Dominguez Benitez, 542 U.S. 74, 80 (2004); United States v. Vonn, 535 U.S. 55, 63 (2002); In re Sealed Case, 670 F.3d 1296, 1302 (D.C. Cir. 2011) ("Where a defendant raises Rule 11 error for the first time on appeal, review is for plain error."). "Under the test for plain error, [Webster] first must show (1) error, (2) that is plain, and (3) that affected [his] substantial rights. Even if all three of these conditions are met, this [C]ourt will not reverse unless (4) the error seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings." Lowery v. United States, 3 A.3d 1169, 1173 (D.C. 2010) (internal quotation marks omitted). Moreover, because Webster "seeks reversal of his conviction after a guilty plea, on the ground that the [trial] court committed plain error under Rule 11," he "must show a reasonable probability that, but for the error, he would not have entered the plea." Dominguez Benitez, 542 U.S. at 83. This Court's review is "informed by the entire record." *Id*.

Webster has not demonstrated error at all, let alone plain error. His first new argument—that he should have been allowed to withdraw his plea "for any reason or no reason" under Rule 11(d)(1) (Br. 14-15)—is foreclosed by Supreme Court precedent. *See United States v. Hyde*, 520 U.S. 670 (1997). In the context of the

federal version of Rule 11, see Fed. R. Crim. P. 11, 12 Hyde held that a defendant who pleads guilty pursuant to a plea agreement under Rule 11(c)(1)(A) or $(C)^{13}$ "may not withdraw his plea [prior to sentencing] unless he shows a 'fair and just' reason," even where the court has "deferred decision on whether to accept the plea agreement" until sentencing. 520 U.S. at 671. As the Supreme Court recognized, "[g]uilty pleas can be accepted while plea agreements are deferred" under Rule 11, "and the acceptance of the two can be separated in time." Id. at 674. Under Rule 11(c)(1)(C), the court accepts a defendant's guilty plea but "defer[s] [the] decision" to accept or reject "the agreement" until sentencing. Super. Ct. Crim. R. 11(c)(3)(A). If the court ultimately "rejects [the] plea agreement," it must advise the parties and "give the defendant an opportunity to withdraw the plea." Super. Ct. Crim. R. 11(c)(5)(B). Rule 11(d)(2) therefore provides that "[a] defendant may withdraw" a guilty plea "after the court accepts the plea, but before it imposes sentence if: (A) the court rejects a plea agreement under Rule 11(c)(5)." Super. Ct. Crim. R. 11(d)(2)(A). If a defendant could withdraw a guilty plea "for any reason or for no

_

¹² Superior Court Criminal Rule 11 "is substantially identical to Fed. R. Crim. P. 11" and this Court "often draw[s] from federal caselaw to interpret it." *Gooding v. United States*, 529 A.2d 301, 305 n.6 (D.C. 1987).

¹³ Rule 11(c)(1)(A) and (C) require that the court "accept the agreement" in addition to the plea itself or "give the defendant an opportunity to withdraw the plea." See Rule 11(c)(4)-(5).

reason' even if the [trial] court does not reject the plea agreement, but merely defers decision on it," it would "strip[] [Rule 11(c)(5)(B)] of any meaning." *Hyde*, 520 U.S. at 676. But "[t]he necessary implication of [that] provision is that if the court has neither accepted nor rejected the agreement, the defendant is not granted 'the opportunity to then withdraw' his plea." *Id*.

Hyde also rejected Webster's interpretation of Rule 11 because it would "debase[] the judicial proceeding at which a defendant pleads and the court accepts his plea" by allowing a defendant who has entered a solemn plea to withdraw it "simply on a lark," thus "degrad[ing] the otherwise serious act of pleading guilty into something akin to a move in a game of chess." 520 U.S. at 676-77. Following Hyde, federal circuits have recognized that "where a [trial] court conducts a Rule 11 plea colloquy and then provisionally or conditionally accepts the defendant's guilty plea pending its review of the [presentence report], the [trial] court has accepted the plea for the purposes of Rule 11." United States v. Byrum, 567 F.3d 1255, 1262 (10th Cir. 2009). See also United States v. Overton, 24 F.4th 870, 877-78 (2d Cir. 2022); United States v. Battle, 499 F.3d 315, 321-22 (4th Cir. 2007); United States v. Jones, 472 F.3d 905, 907-09 (D.C. Cir. 2007). In *Overton*, for example, the Second Circuit held that a defendant seeking to withdraw his guilty plea had to satisfy Rule 11(d)(2)(B)'s "fair and just" standard—although the trial court had stated that it "provisionally accepted" his plea pending review of the parties' Rule 11(c)(1)(C)

agreement—because "[c]onsidered in its entirety the record plainly reflects that the court had accepted Overton's plea—but deferred decision on his plea agreement—prior to his motion to withdraw." 24 F.4th at 875. So too here, where Judge Beck stated at the plea hearing that it "accept[ed] [Webster's] plea contingent on [its] acceptance of the sentencing agreement" (7/25/19 Tr. 13), the record reflects that the court accepted Webster's plea while deferring decision on the plea agreement—as Rule 11 clearly authorizes. Webster has not shown error at all—let alone plain error—in the court's application of Rule 11(d)(2)(B)'s "fair and just" standard to his plea-withdrawal motion. *See Hyde*, 520 U.S. at 671.¹⁴

Webster's other unpreserved claims of Rule 11 error fare no better. He claims that the court failed to advise him during the plea hearing that he would have "the right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses at trial" (Br. 16). See Super. Ct. Crim. R. 11(b)(1)(E) ("Before the court accepts a plea of guilty... the court must inform the defendant of... the right at trial to confront and cross-examine

_

¹⁴ Webster points out (Br. 15) that Superior Court Rule 11(c)(3)(A), unlike its federal analogue, requires that the trial court defer a decision on accepting or rejecting a Rule 11(c)(1)(C) agreement in a case "involving a victim" pending notification, as required by Rule 32(a), of the right to make a victim-impact statement at sentencing. That does not change the foregoing analysis, because it is the decision on "the plea agreement"—not acceptance of the plea—that is being deferred. Under *Hyde* and its progeny, a defendant must satisfy the "fair and just" standard where the court accepts the plea but defers decision on the agreement. *See* 520 U.S. at 674 ("Guilty pleas can be accepted while plea agreements are deferred, and the acceptance of the two can be separated in time.").

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